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When the meander lines are run in reverse from what appellants claim as the Swift's northeast corner (circled number 7 on the plat), they are mostly on the Louisiana side of the river. The first of the lines (reversed order) crosses the lower part of the "boot" but also crosses the river north of the toe of the "boot" and extends on into Louisiana for some distance. The three remaining lines are altogether in Louisiana.  And in order to intercept the last of them (reversed order) with the Swift's south line as run by appellants, it would be necessary to project the latter line approximately 2,333 varas from its river terminus.
If a point 9,690 varas from Big Cow Creek is selected in the Swift's north line as run by appellants, and the meander lines are run in reverse from it, the first of the meander lines (reversed order) is altogether west of the "boot" but still crosses the river and extends well into Louisiana, and the three remaining lines continue to be well inside Louisiana.  However, in order to intercept the last of them (reversed order) with the Swift's south line as run by appellants, it would only be necessary to project the latter line some 375 or 400 varas from its river terminus.
When the meander lines are run in their called order from what appellants claim as the Swift's southeast corner, (circled number 1 on the plat) the first three of them lie either in or across the river, and the fourth, or last one, intercepts what appellants claim as the Swift's north line at a point more than 2300 varas from the north line's river terminus.
If in all three instances the called course of the Swift's north line were to be permitted to control location of that line and the northern termini of the meander lines, the results would be essentially the same as those we have outlined.
Appellees rely heavily on the foregoing facts, but we are unable to see that they are aided by them.  It must be conceded, of course, that the meander calls are erroneous if appellants' construction of the survey is correct, but they are likewise erroneous if appellees' construction of it is correct.
If the meander lines are run on true course from what appellees themselves claim as the Swift's southeast corner, they fit the river little, if any, better than when run from what appellants claim as the survey's southeast corner, and they lack much of contacting what appellees claim as the Swift's northeast corner. What appellees claim as the Swift's north line is, in such circumstances, intercepted considerably more than 600 varas S. 80 degrees 47' W. of where appellees terminate it, and a corresponding distance less than 9,690 varas N. 80 degrees 47' E. of Big Cow Creek; and this, despite the fact that the river has been moving westward, if at all.  Clearly, therefore, if the Swift's southeast corner is situated where appellees claim it is, and if its location has remained constant, as appellees claim it has, the surveyor made a mistake in his meander calls.
The meander calls being erroneous in any event, such advantage as this affords would seem to lie with the side in whose favor the surveyor's mistake can be most plausibly explained.  And we feel that the advantage, if any, is with appellants.  No plausible explanation of the mistake that would be involved under appellees' construction of the survey suggests itself.  On the other hand, mistakes which may well have been made if the survey was constructed as appellants claim it was, and which would explain not only the meander calls -- but the excess in the Swift's north line as run by appellants, do readily suggest themselves.
There is a distinct possibility -- even a probability -- that there should have been five meander calls instead of four.  And the manner in which the survey's north line was likely measured may well have led to omission of the measurements along one segment of the line when the measurements were totaled.
Assuming the previously-discussed surveying process to have been used in a normal manner and in keeping with our understanding of it in constructing the meander lines, a new northward-thrusting base line was run from each successive river point.  The last of these lines would therefore have intersected the survey's north line considerably east of the survey's southeast corner but west of the survey's northeast corner. Measurement would then have been made eastward from the point of intersection to the northeast corner, whereas the remainder of the Swift's north line was measured westward.  It is easy to visualize the surveyor as having failed, through oversight, to add the eastward measurements to the westward measurements when he computed the line's total length.  Especially so, since the eastward measurements were primarily made for the special and limited purpose of establishing meander lines.  It is likewise easy to visualize such a mistake as having led to a mistake in the meander lines also, since the latter were arrived at by platting.
Of course, in order for the eastward measurements to correspond to the excess in the Swift's north line under appellants' construction of the survey, the last of the base lines would have had to intercept the north line 10,000 varas from the survey's northwest corner; which, according to the field notes, would have placed the intersection point 9,690 varas from Big Cow Creek. And in order for the last of the base lines to have intercepted the north line at the proper place, a river point which was not mentioned in the field notes -- i.e., an additional river point -- would have been necessary.  But if the Swift's north line was in fact run where appellants claim it was, or even where the surveyor said he ran it, there is a strong likelihood that an additional and unmentioned river point was established on or near the crest of the river bend on which appellees would themselves locate the Swift's northeast corner. Certainly the prominence of the bend was such as to have invited, if not to have required, establishment of such a base point.  And a point at a distance of 9,690 varas from Big Cow Creek in the Swift's north line as run by appellants or in the line as the surveyor said he himself ran it would have been almost directly above the crest of the river bend.
Assuming the Swift's north line to have been run as appellants claim it was, or even as the surveyor said it was, and that a river point was in fact established on the abovementioned river bend, a fifth meander call should have been included in the field notes.  And if in fact it should have been, a plausible explanation for its omission, as well as for the failure to mention the river point, is available; provided the surveyor did in fact fail to add eastward measurements to westward measurements when he computed the length of the Swift's north line.
As previously mentioned, the meander lines were arrived at by platting.  However, it is highly improbable that they were platted until after the other lines of the survey had been drawn.  In which event, and assuming the north line to have been drawn shorter than it should have been, due to omission of that segment of it that would have called for the fifth meander line, it is quite understandable that the draftsman may have lost sight of the fifth meander line and closed his plat and the survey with the fourth meander line -- when the latter should have been run to the next river point.
Appellees do not claim that there is evidence -- nor is there any -- to justify locating the Swift's northeast corner away from the river. With reference to that corner, therefore, the only problem is that of where on the river the corner is located.  By the same token, the only problem with reference to the Swift's north line is that of how properly to course the line from the survey's accepted northwest corner.
Neither side deems it proper to run the Swift's north line in strict accordance with the line's called course; but if the line were so run from the Swift's accepted northwest corner, it still would be essentially as beneficial to appellants and as hurtful to appellees as when run as appellants run it.  The line, for the most part, would run slightly south of where appellants locate it, but north of where appellees locate it, and north of the river bend on which appellees would locate the Swift's northeast corner. In other words, it would pass north of the river bend and across the alleged vacancy, and would still leave most of the alleged vacant land in the Swift.
The field notes would place the Swift's northwest corner S. 80 W. 310 varas from Big Cow Creek. What appellees and all of the appellants except Kirby Lumber Corporation accept as the survey's northwest corner was found by appellees to be S. 80 W. 456.4 varas from the creek. From such point, as best we can tell, appellants ran the Swift's north line on called course, or N. 80 E., to the creek. They then dropped southward down the creek approximately forty varas, and from there ran N. 79 degrees 37' E. 6,133.75 varas, and then, from the latter point, N. 78 degrees 57' E. 5,326.2 varas to the river. Appellees, on the other hand, ran the line from the northwest corner N. 80 degrees 47' E. 10,131 varas to the river. The distance from Big Cow Creek to the river was only 9,674.6 varas. Kirby Lumber Corporation differs with the other appellants only about that part of the line west of the creek. Instead of breaking the line at the creek, Kirby projected along its reverse course to the survey's west line as ran by appellants that segment of the north line that appellants ran N. 79 degrees 37' E. from the creek. The point of intersection is approximately 85 varas S. 46 degrees 13' W. of where the other parties locate the northwest corner.
As against the call for the Swift's west line to run S. 46 W. 4,380 varas from the survey's northwest corner, appellants ran the line from the generally accepted northwest corner S. 46 degrees 13' W., or only 13' off course, 4,383.08 varas. And from the point thus arrived at, they ran the survey's south line N. 80 degrees 9' E., or only 9' off course, 9,692.85 varas to the river. Appellees, on the other hand, when their actual calls are reversed, ran the west line from the accepted northwest corner S. 50 degrees 11' W., or 4 degrees 11' off course, 4,933.5 varas (an excess of 553.5 varas), and the south line, from the point thus arrived at, N. 81 degrees 02' E., or 1 degrees 02' off course, 10,062 varas to what they claim as the survey's southeast corner.
In large degree, appellants and appellees approached reconstruction of the Swift from opposite poles.  Appellants sought to establish lines and have them control corners. Appellees, on the other hand, sought to establish corners and have them control the courses of lines.
The lines on which appellants rely are marked, and there is a plethora of evidence to show that they -- or lines in their immediate vicinities -- have been marked since time immemorial.  There is the same amplitude of evidence to show that the lines -- or lines in their immediate vicinities -- have been consistently recognized and accepted by owners, occupants, surveyors and others as the lines of the Swift Survey.  Detailing the evidence would be pointless, because there is no conflicting evidence.
Appellees are the first, of whom there is any history, who have claimed as boundaries of the Swift the lines on which they themselves rely.  And not even they did so prior to trial of the case.  During the hearing before the Commissioner of the General Land Office they were in accord with appellants about the lines and corners of the survey, except with reference to the course of the north line from the survey's accepted northwest corner, and except with reference to the location of the north line's eastern terminus.  And even the course they then claimed for the north line -- N. 79 degrees 30' E. from the accepted northwest corner -- was accounted for by much the same markings as those on which appellants rely for establishment of the line.
In the latter connection it may be said that, within narrow limits, there is perhaps room for bona fide disagreement about the proper interpretation of the markings that exist.  Unless it is accepted that a single line has been widely marked, two marked lines, rather close together, exist along a portion of the course appellant’s claim for the north line. And appellants favor the more northerly markings.
The material difference between appellees' and appellants' claims before the Commissioner was that appellees claimed that the north line's eastern terminus, or the Swift's northeast corner, should be established 9,690 varas N. 79 degrees 30' E. of Big Cow Creek rather than on the river, and that the survey should be closed by running the meander lines in reverse from that point to the river.
Following the hearing before the Commissioner appellees employed a different surveyor from the one on whose testimony they relied during that hearing, and the new surveyor, W. W. Dubose, developed their present theories regarding the Swift.  But even he was compelled by truth to admit that, throughout his own rather long familiarity with the survey, the lines on which appellants rely -- or lines in their immediate vicinities -- had been marked and had been recognized and accepted as the Swift's boundaries.
As early as 1937 or 1939 -- just which is not clear -- Mr. Dubose, who was then employed by one of the owners of the Swift, ran a "transit line" around the survey.  We take it that he ran the true course calls for the south, west, and north lines of the survey from what he accepted as the southeast, southwest, and northwest corners of the survey.  His findings with reference to markings along the lines as he ran them at that time were in keeping with appellants' present claims regarding the lines' markings. And as a witness in two or more lawsuits which followed his running of the "transit line," Mr. Dubose took the position that the Swift's boundaries were essentially as appellants claim them to be.
We incline toward the belief that nothing short of original markings could justify departures from lines and corners so long recognized and accepted.  But the complete lack of merit in the circumstances by which appellees have undertaken to justify departures renders it unnecessary that we commit ourselves to such a principle.
It is to be noted that, at least in appearance, the first of the above plats depicts Big Cow Creek as forking near the river and as having two mouths.  And the representation is, in a sense, correct.  Moreover, it appears that both channels have existed since before the Swift was constructed. However, the more northerly of the two is the creek's true or regular channel -- through which water flows into the river continuously.  The other is known as "Cow-Creek Cut-off." And there is no history of its ever having been known as anything else.  Creek water flows through it only when the creek's flow is from three to four feet or more above normal depth.
Appellees claim a marked corner on the "cut-off" as the Swift's southeast corner. And the location is of the utmost importance to their theory of the case, because it is a controlling factor in their location of the Swift's north line.
Beginning at such point, appellees' surveyor first ran what appellees claim as the Swift's south and west lines.  He then returned to his beginning point and from there ran his own adaptation of the meander lines.  And finally he ran the north line from the survey's accepted northwest corner to the river on a course that would cause it to contact the north end of the fourth, or last, meander line.  He claimed no other reason for having coursed the north line as he did, but did claim that he found some marked trees on and near the course he pursued.  One of these was approximately 300 varas S. 80 degrees 47' W. of the meander-line point, but most of them were along the western one-third or one-half of the line, principally in the vicinity of Big Cow Creek, and the surveyor did not deny that those were also on and along the course appellants claim for the north line.
For the Swift's south line appellees' surveyor ran a straight line from his beginning point to where a passing call in the field notes of a junior survey which in part was built to the Swift's south line would place the Swift's southwest corner. From there he ran a straight line to the Swift's generally accepted northwest corner. From his beginning point, he ran each of the meander lines one degree east of its called course.  So run, the meander lines carried to a point which is represented on the plat by encircled number 7a.  By the most direct route, the point is approximately 20 varas from the riverbank.  But when coursed as appellees course it, the Swift's north line passes north of the nearest river point and strikes higher on the river bend, slightly short of 600 varas N. 80 degrees 47' E. from the meander-line point.  Having found the latter point to be 600 varas less than 9,690 varas from Big Cow Creek, the surveyor ran the north line past it and to the river; that is, to the point that is represented on the plat by encircled number 7.  The two points are actually 584.6 varas apart.  The fourth, or last, of the meander lines was then coursed still more east of its called course and made to contact the terminus of the north line. As thus run, the meander line ran N. 61 degrees 27' E. 2, 348.96 varas, whereas the field notes called for it to run N. 54 1/2 E. 1,725 varas.
Had the meander lines been run on their called courses instead of as they were run, and still allowed to control the course of the survey's north line, they would have pulled the north line southward from where appellees locate it and into the river some 600 or more varas short of the line's called length east of Big Cow Creek. And had they been run on their called courses and the last of them projected to an intersection with the north line as run by appellees, the intersection would have occurred approximately 100 varas S. 80 degrees 47' W. of where it did occur.
The explanation given by the surveyor for his having initially run the meander lines one degree east of their called courses was that he had concluded, from his own coursing of the Swift's south line, that the original surveyor of the Swift had run the lines of the survey approximately one degree "to the right" of their recorded courses.  He gave no reason for his failure to take into account in this respect the fact that he himself had run the Swift's west line 4 degrees 11' off its called course.
If appellees' location of the Swift's southeast corner and their coursing of the survey's south line were to be accepted as correct, it is highly improbable that even then there would be evidence to support their locations of the survey's north line and northeast corner. The following questions would require answers, and we think it unlikely that an affirmative answer to either would be proper: 1) Was running each of the meander lines one degree east of its called course justified by the mere fact that originally -- as would be true in the hypothetical situation -- the south line was run one degree "to the right" of its recorded course?  2) Even so, was it proper to give the meander calls precedence over the north line's called course?
The questions are pertinent, of course, to any appraisal of appellees' claims, but being of the opinion that appellees' location of the Swift's southeast corner and their coursing of the survey's south line must be rejected; we refrain from actually deciding either of them.
The original plat of the Swift, as will have been observed, does these things: depicts Big Cow Creek as having had only one channel; depicts the Swift's south line as having contacted the creek at the most southerly point of the creek's course, not far west of the river; depicts the creek's eastward course from the point of contact as having been first northeast for a considerable distance and then southeast to the river; depicts the Swift's southeast corner as having been slightly below the mouth of the Creek.
Just how far below the mouth of the creek the corner was is not known, but the distance must have been considerably less than 150 varas, since the first of the meander lines was called to run only 150 varas N. 25 E. from the corner, and would appear to have carried to a point considerably above the creek's mouth.
The other of the plats, as also will have been observed, does the following things: depicts the south line as run by appellants as touching or virtually touching the creek at the most southerly point of the creek's course west of the cut-off, as crossing the cut-off, and as intercepting the river quite a distance below the mouth of the creek; depicts the regular channel of the creek as approaching and reaching the river on an ascending course; depicts the cut-off as proceeding to the river along a descending course; depicts the south line as run by appellees as lying quite a distance south of the most southerly point of the creek's regular channel and as terminating at the south edge of what appellees claim is the mouth of the cut-off.
The location appellant’s claim for the Swift's southeast corner is actually about 250 varas below the creek's mouth.  It is also about 209 varas from the location appellees claim for the corner. And the south line as run by appellees is near 200 varas south of the most southerly point of the creek's regular channel.
Appellees pick and choose from the foregoing facts.  But before examining their argument, it is well to state additional facts, from which they also pick and choose.
The Swift was twice partitioned, once in 1857, and again in 1881.  Both field notes and a plat of the 1857 partition were prepared and are in evidence.  Only field notes of the 1881 partition have come to our attention.  There is hardly room to doubt that the field notes and plat of the 1857 partition were products of an office survey, but it is undisputed that the partition lines were subsequently run on the ground.  How well the field notes fitted the ground in the vicinity of the river is not known.  There is no reason to doubt that the field notes of the 1881 partition were products of a ground survey.
In the 1857 partition, an 1161-acre tract was partitioned to Seth Swift, and a 473-acre tract was partitioned to Sarah G. Miles.  The field notes of the 1161-acre tract called to begin at the Swift's southeast corner and to run N. 10 W. 400 varas. From there the north lines carried to the Swift's west boundary.  The Swift's west and south lines were then followed back to the beginning point.  The 473-acre tract lay adjacent to the 1161-acre tract and to the river. Its field notes also called to begin and close at the Swift's southeast corner. And the plat, as it naturally would, showed a wedge of the 473-acre tract between the east end of the 1161-acre tract and the river. The east line of the 1161-acre tract was not depicted as crossing Big Cow Creek except at the line's south end.
In the 1881 partition, 320 acres off the east end of the 1161-acre tract were partitioned to Paul G. Swift.  The field notes called to begin at the Swift's southeast corner, to run first with the south line, and finally to run S. 10 E. 400 varas to the place of beginning.  The latter, or east, line was represented as having intercepted Big Cow Creek at a distance of five varas from the line's north end.
In 1850 the Henry W. Sudduth Survey was built to the Swift's southeast corner and to the east 6032.7 varas of the Swift's south line. And in 1852 Seth Swift purchased 30 1/2 acres in the survey's northeast corner. The field notes of the tract called to begin at a stake "on the margin of the swamp of Sabine River" and to run from there "up the said River swamp" N. 22 degrees 30' E. 52 1/2 poles to the Swift's southeast corner, thence S. 80 W. 184 poles, thence S. 10 E. 20 poles, thence N. 87 degrees 30' E. 148 1/2 poles to the place of beginning.  Only the southeast and northeast corners were represented as being marked otherwise than by a stake.
Claiming that an endorsement which appears on the back of the original plat of the Swift shows the survey's southeast corner to have been established originally at "the confluent point" of the creek and river, appellees attempt to make capital of the fact that the corner location claimed by appellants is 250 varas below the mouth of the creek and almost as far above the mouth of the cut-off. The endorsement is as follows: "Plat of One Sitio of land at the confluent point of Cow Creek with the Sabine River for Seth Swift, Esquire." We reject both their interpretation of the endorsement and their contention that the location they themselves claim for the corner is at "the confluent point" of the creek and river. The endorsement merely identified the plat and the area of the land's location.  The location they, the appellees, claim for the southeast corner is one hundred or more varas from the river. Appellees would have it that the location is at the place where the cut-off formerly emptied into the river, but there is no evidence that what they refer to as the "old course of the river" has ever been the river's course.  Appellees' own surveyor referred to it more often than not as "the old lake." Appellants say that it is neither an old river channel nor an old lake, but merely a widening of the channel of the cut-off.
Appellees also attempt to make capital of the fact that the original plat of the Swift depicts Big Cow Creek as reaching the river on a descending course, of the fact that the plat of the 1857 partition shows a wedge of the Sarah Miles 473-acre tract between the river and the Seth Swift 1161-acre tract, and of the fact that the east line of the 320 acres partitioned to Paul G. Swift in 1881 was represented as having intercepted Big Cow Creek only five varas from the line's north end.  They say that none of these things is true as appellants locate the Swift's south line, and that all of them are true or substantially so as they themselves locate the line.  But they ignore facts which establish beyond question that, in referring to the creek, the partition field notes referred to the creek's regular channel, not to the cut-off. For example, they ignore the fact that all of the partition corners that still exist, which appears to be most of them, are admittedly either on or inside the lines appellants claim for the Swift; and they ignore the fact that the plat of the 1857 partition depicted the east line of the 1161-acre tract -- which later became the east line of the 320-acre tract -- as crossing the creek only at the line's south end.  They also ignore the evidence which shows conclusively that opposite the Swift the river has been gradually but steadily moving westward for many years.  And this westward movement explains both the creek call in the east line of the 320 acres set aside to Paul G. Swift in 1881 and the fact that the creek now arrives at the river on an ascending course.  By 1881, as is sufficiently evident, the river had already moved to or near the crest of the northward bend of the creek that is reflected by the original plat, thereby placing the Swift's southeast corner 395 varas below the north edge of the creek. It has since moved west of the crest, thereby reducing the distance from the creek to the south line and causing the creek to approach it on an ascending course.  The north and south lines of the 320-acre tract are admittedly now short of their called lengths.
Appellees attempted, but failed, to prove that the corner on the cut-off is the northeast corner of the 30 1/2 acres, therefore the southeast corner of the Swift.  From such corner, their surveyor ran the courses and distances called for in the field notes of the 30 1/2 acres, except that he ran the north line with what appellees claim as the Swift's south line, or 1 degrees 02' off its called course.ْ No line markings of any kind were found along the lines he ran, nor were any corner markings found at either the northwest corner or the southwest corner. The surveyor did claim to have found an old corner or evidence of an old corner at the east end of the south line, but he did not, so far as we are aware, disclose what it was that led him to believe that it was a corner site.  In any event, he did not, except by vague implication, identify the corner as the southeast corner of the 30 1/2 acres. Definite identification of the corner is the only thing that would have enabled his surveying to lend support to appellees' claims regarding the corner on the cut-off. The mere fact that by running the called course and distance for the east line he returned to his [beginning point is not significant.  Assuming the correctness of the field notes, a course-and-distance survey could not have done otherwise than return him to his beginning point, unless because he ran the north line slightly off its called course.
If the 30 1/2 acres were in fact located as appellees claim, the southern end of the tract would be opposite an old ferry crossing on the river. Appellees profess to find in this fact support for locating the tract as they did, their argument being that Seth Swift purchased the 30 1/2 acres in order to have a place from which to operate the ferry.  Not only is there no evidence to show for what purpose the land was purchased, but the argument overlooks the fact that even as appellees would locate it the 30 1/2 acres would have been far removed westerly from the ferry crossing.
No support for appellees' location of the Swift's southeast corner is found in what they claim as the Swift's south line. The line was coursed as it was only because of the locations appellees claim for the survey's southeast and southwest corners. No markings of any kind were found anywhere along it except at its east end.
Much evidence was devoted to the location of the Swift's southwest corner, but it is all immaterial.  The only advantage to appellees in using the location they did instead of the recognized and accepted corner was that it reduced and rendered slightly less unpalatable the degree to which the Swift's south line as run by them departed from the line's called course.
In explanation of the marked corner appellees claim as the Swift's southeast corner, it is only fair [to state that the evidence rather conclusively shows that, instead of being the northeast corner of the 30 1/2 acres, the corner is in fact the southeast corner of that tract, as relocated and marked by surveyor James G. Barker in 1930.  Admissions made by appellees' own surveyor inescapably lead to this conclusion.  At least one judgment in a suit between owners and claimants of the Swift and Sudduth and of the 30 1/2 acres would so label it.  And there is much other evidence to the same effect, but no good purpose would be served by detailing and discussing it.
There being no evidence to support appellees' locations of the Swift's south line and southeast corner, there is none to support their meander lines nor their locations of the survey's north line and northeast corner. If the matter rested here, the north line would be controlled by its called course.  But there is ample evidence to support appellants' locations of the north line and northeast corner, and it must be given effect.
Appellees do not claim that there is evidence -- nor is there any -- to justify separating the Walden's southeast corner from the Swift's northeast corner. Both corners and the common boundary of the two surveys must therefore be given the locations appellants claim for them.  And when this is done, we think it clear that the river call for the Walden's northeast corner must also be honored.  The surveyor said he began on the river and went with the meanders of the river to the Swift's northeast corner. And since he did arrive at the latter corner, there is no reason to doubt that his starting point was on the river. Moreover, when the meander calls are run from what appellants claim as the Walden's northeast corner, they pass just east of the location appellant’s claim for the survey's southeast corner. They are too long and probably extend to the Louisiana side of the river, but it is quite possible that through the years and through re-markings, the Swift's north line has moved northward somewhat.  It is also quite possible that the river's course has changed somewhat.  The meander lines also indicate a westward bulge in the river which no longer exists, but maps of the river itself show that in earlier days there was a westward bulge or curve in the river to account for the meander calls.  When the meander calls are run from what appellees claim as the Walden's northeast corner they never reach the river. In fact, they do not come close to doing so, being far west of the river all the way.  Given the construction appellants claim for it, the Walden conforms closely to its field notes and to the plat the original surveyor of it prepared for it.  On the whole of the evidence, therefore, we have no hesitancy in saying that, as a matter of law, the lines and corners of the Walden are as appellants claim them to be.
We take it that, under the portion of the judgment from which there has been no appeal, the southeast corner of the Spears and the northeast corner of the lower McFarland are now established at the location appellants claim for them (circled number 30 on the plat).  But the jury found that the southeast corner of the Spears was established originally where appellees claim it was (encircled number 30 on the plat), and we shall treat it as having been so established, no attack having been made on the finding.  Appellees claim that the McFarland's northeast corner was established originally at the same location, and it is true that the field notes of the McFarland call to begin at the southeast corner of the Spears.  We doubt that the surveyor of the McFarland began or closed the survey at such location, but the matter is not of too much importance.  It is but an evidentiary matter, of significance only as it bears upon the true location of the McFarland's southeast corner. And even if the northeast corner was located originally as appellees claim, there is no evidence to justify locating the southeast corner away from the river.
It appears that a survey embracing the area now taken up by the middle tier of surveys -- the lower McFarland, the Walden, the Pleasants, the Linox, and the Gray -- was once made for a William Hines.  The survey was abandoned and its field notes are no longer available, but they were likely available to the surveyors of the surveys within and north of the abandoned survey.  In any event, the north line and corners of the Hines were referred to in the field notes of some, if not all, of the surveys touching that line.  For example, the initial call in the field notes of the Spears is as follows: "Beginning at Post & mound (being the upper corner of Wm. Hines' Survey, on the bank of the Sabine) where a Holly 8 In diam. -- bears N 19 degrees W 6 6/10 varas and a red oak 50 In diam. bears S 45 degrees W 8 4/10 varas." As initially written, the opening call in the field notes of the lower McFarland was as follows: "Beginning at the Upper Corner of a Survey made for Wm. Hynes being the Lower corner of a Survey made for John Spear -- a Stake from which a Large red oak marked W H bears S 20 degrees E 6 varas and holly marked W H. bear S 80 degrees W 4 varas." A line was subsequently run through the words, "Upper Corner of a Survey made for Wm. Hynes, being the." In final form, therefore, omitting the words through which the line was drawn, the field notes were as follows:
"Survey for the S. McFarland of Eight Labors 149,836-sqr varas of Land Situated in Newton County on the West-bank of the Sabine river 2 miles below the Town of Belgrade and 3 miles above the mouth of Big Cow Creek. Being the excess of the Quantity of land to which he is Entitled by virtue of Certificate No. 421 Issued by the board of Land Commissioners for the County of San Augustine -- Beginning at the Lower corner of a Survey made for John Spear. -- a Stake from which a Large red oak marked W H bears S 20 degrees E 6 varas and holly marked W H. bear S 80 degrees W 4 varas -- Thence S 80 degrees W on Said Spear's South boundary at 3000 -- varas pine oak & dogwood Land at 3,900 Creek 6 varas wide runs S E at 4257 varas passed T. S. McFarland SE-Corner 5,644 1/10 varas a Stake from which a white oak marked TM bears S 80 degrees E 5 1/10 varas and a chinquapin marked T.M. bear N 5 W. 1 6/10 vrs . . .  Thence S. 10 degrees E -- at 1444. 3/10 varas a Stake from which a hickory Marked T.M. bear N 55 degrees W. 3 5/10 varas and a gum marked TM -- bear N 83 degrees W 2 3/10 varas -- Thence N. 80 degrees E at 1500 varas Gum line tree at 3000 varas Cain at 5600 1/10 varas a stake on the West bank of river Sabine from which a holly marked TM -- bear S 46 degrees W 4 2/10 varas and a gum marked T.M. -- bear N 70 degrees E 5 4/10 varas Thence Up Sabine River with its meanders Viz 1st N. 5 degrees W. 850 varas -- N 19 degrees E -- 220 varas N 59 degrees W 300 varas N 16 degrees E 255 varas -- Place of beginning 3 labors Temporal or Arable lands -- Residue pasture land -- 30th June 1838."
Even if located originally as appellees claim it was the McFarland's northeast corner, as appellees concede, was on the river, as the river then ran. And the evidence by which appellees sought to prove that the surveyor failed to get back to the river with his south line is without probative force for that purpose.  It consists of little, if anything, besides the fact that when run in reverse from the claimed northeast corner location the meander lines lead to a marked corner on an old slough -- slightly north of what appellants claim as the survey's south line and also slightly short of the called length of the meander lines -- and of the fact that one witness testified that when a child he was told by his father that the marked corner was the southeast corner of the McFarland.
Against such evidence there are the following things, among others: 1) the river calls; 2) the fact that, only three years after the McFarland was surveyed, the surveyor of the Walden, who, as we have shown, unquestionably began the Walden on the river, said he began it at the McFarland's southeast corner; 3) undisputed evidence showing the McFarland's south line to have been marked all the way to the river since before the turn of the century; 4) undisputed evidence showing the marked line to the river as having been recognized and accepted as the common boundary of the McFarland and Walden since time immemorial; 5) the fact that, when run from the river location appellants claim for the southeast corner, the meander lines do connect such point and the point appellants claim for the McFarland's northeast corner, though they do not fit the river's course at all; 6) the purpose for which the corner on the slough was marked is not known.
All things considered, the lengths of the McFarland's north and south lines and the location of the survey's west line are not really matters of importance.  However, appellants offer plausible explanations for the shortages they give the north and south lines (485 and 497 varas, respectively).  On the other hand, appellees are unable to give any plausible explanation for the excesses they give the lines (743 and 724 varas, respectively).  Appellees actually have no justification for the excesses except that course and distance calls in junior surveys, when run from the west, would place the McFarland's west line far west of the location appellants claim for it.
Both sides offered evidence to the effect that A. I. Shelby, who surveyed the lower McFarland, had been found to have been not only a careless surveyor but one who was prone to copy from other field notes.  When he surveyed the lower McFarland, there would have been available to him the field notes of the Spears, Stevens, and upper McFarland, and possibly -- perhaps probably -- the field notes of the Hines abandoned survey.  In his north line he called to pass the upper McFarland's southeast corner at a distance of 4,257 varas from his beginning point.  The upper McFarland's southeast corner is undisputed and is considerably less than 4,257 varas from either of the locations claimed for the southeast corner of the Spears.  That is actually the combined called lengths of the north lines of the Spears and Stevens.  And in the field notes of the upper McFarland there was initially this entry: "Survey for Thomas S. McFarland of Eleven Labors * * * of land situated in Newton County 4,257 varas S. 80 degrees W from the bank of the Sabine River." A part of this, "4,257 varas S. 80 degrees W. from the bank of," was then lined out and the following substituted, "3 miles west of." The location appellant’s claim for the lower McFarland's northwest corner is actually 1387 varas from the upper McFarland's accepted southeast corner.  And when this sum is added to 4,257, we have the total of 5,644 varas, as against the called length of 5,644 1/10 varas for the lower McFarland's north line. The upper McFarland had been surveyed and its southeast corner marked only thirty days before the lower McFarland was surveyed. And appellants logically argue that, instead of beginning his work at the southeast corner of the Spears, Shelby, surveyor of the lower McFarland, actually began at the freshly marked southeast corner of the upper McFarland and only measured from there to the lower McFarland's northwest corner, and that to this distance he added the 4,257 varas, under the erroneous impression that it was the distance of the upper McFarland's southeast corner from the river. Appellees' surveyor conceded that this was probably the way Shelby arrived at the length he gave the lower McFarland's north line. Shelby called the lower McFarland's south line to be 5600 varas long.  Just three years later the surveyor of the Walden and Pleasants found the distance to be 5060 varas. Appellants suggest that Shelby inadvertently transposed the six and a zero in writing up his field notes.  It seems rather certain that this occurred, because, while we shall not enter into a discussion of the evidence, appellants have done a very creditable job of connecting their claimed locations of the lower McFarland's northwest and southwest corners back to original markings; and their location of the southwest corner is 5,030 varas from their location of the survey's southeast corner. A comparison will disclose that the surveyor of the Spears and the surveyor of the lower McFarland did not call for the same bearing trees at the Spears' southeast and the McFarland's northeast corner, hence the doubt we expressed earlier about their having been at the same location.
In 1951 Kirby Lumber Corporation acquired from the State a deed of acquittance to the James Gray, bounding the latter as they claim it to be bounded, and inferentially confirming appellants' constructions of the other surveys with which we have dealt.  Appellants say that by virtue of said deed the State is estopped to take the position it now takes.  The holdings already made render it unnecessary that we decide the question.
To the extent that it was appealed from, the judgment of the trial court is reversed and judgment is here rendered that appellees-plaintiffs in the trial court -- take nothing and that they pay all costs in this behalf accrued.  That portion of the trial court's judgment that deals with what was formerly claimed to be a vacancy opposite the Spears and the upper part of the lower McFarland is not before us for review and is not disturbed.
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